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The St. Paul's Episcopal Church nomination includes four structures: the 
church, the rectory, the chapel, and the guildhall. These structures are 
situated at the northeast corner of Spring and Second Streets in Watertown.

THE CHURCH The church is an early Gothic Revival structure with a High 
Victorian Gothic tower. The nave has a steeply-pitched gable roof. Shed- 
roofed additions on either side of the nave provide aisles, and a nearly 
square apse with a slightly lower gabled roof projects at the east end of 
the nave. A square bell tower with a slender octagonal spire is situated 
at the southwest corner of the structure.

The walls of Watertown cream-colored brick are three courses thick. Buttresses 
with corbelled bricks forming the weatherings embellish the corners and 
side walls. The church is five bays long and has a full basement, excavated 
in 1955. Windows are lancet and have brick hoodmolds. Stained glass in 
the windows was made by the Milwaukee Art Glass Company (Watertown Daily 
Times, 9-19-09). These lights replaced the original, beginning in 1890. 
Doorways have pointed arches.

Interior walls of the church are plastered, with wooden wainscoting. The 
plaster ceiling of the nave is vaulted. Floors are of maple, and posts 
sheathed in walnut separate the aisles from the nave. The marble altar 
was made locally.

In 1968 a vestibule was added to the front gable end. The addition has 
a low~sloping gabled roof and a pointed arch entrance. Above a low brick 
wall the exposed framing members separate glazed panels. „ -'--;-,.

CHAPEL A passage at the northeast corner of the church leads from the 
church to the chapel, a Gothic Revival structure built in 1886. It is a 
gable-roofed structure with pointed arched windows and small gabled dormers 
with arched windows. A round, glazed opening at the gable end is over the 
small vestibule. Corner and side wall buttresses with concrete weatherings 
embellish the structure.

RECTORY The rectory, built in 1885, is situated north of the church. It 
is a 1-1/2 story cream-colored brick house with Gothic Revival stylisms. 
The roof is complex, with a cross gable and gabled wall dormers intersecting 
the gabled roof. Segmental arched windows with hoodmolds occur singly at 
the half-story and paired at the first story. Entrances are arched to 
match the windows. An entrance porch replaced the original veranda in about 
1940.
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7. DESCRIPTION continued

GUILDHALL The guildhall, dating from 1931, is the newest structure of the 
complex. It was built adjacent to the chapel and intersects the chapel 
roof at right angles, with its ridge slightly above the ridge of the chapel. 
This eclectic structure is distinguished by its varied fenestration. Segmental 
arches dominate, but round arches appear in the gable window and at the main 
entry. A vestibule projects at the southeast corner.

11. continued
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JTATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

St. Paul's Episcopal Church is significant as the design of a regionally important 
architect. The church complex is a fine example of the variety 0f Gothic influences 
apparent in American architecture.

The church was built in 1859 by the Watertown congregation that had been formed 
in 1847. It replaced the original church on Third Street and has been in continuous 
use ever since. James Douglas, a prominent Milwaukee architect, designed the 
structure.

Douglas was born in Scotland in 1823 and emigrated to Canada in 1840. From 
Kingston, Ontario he came to Milwaukee in 1843. For several years he worked 
as a "carpenter and master workman" in Milwaukee (Evening Wisconsin, 9-1-94, 
p. 1). In this capacity he contributed to the construction of the old City 
Hall, St. Gall's Church, St. John's Cathedral, and the Holy Trinity Church. 
In 1847 he and his brother began designing and building structures, forming a 
partnership that lasted for 16 years. Douglas abandoned his practice from 1863 
until 1872 to work for the Northwestern Life Insurance Company, then returned 
to architecture, concentrating on residential design. Among his most notable 
works are the North Presbyterian Church in Milwaukee, Grace Episcopal Church 
in Madison, and the Chapel of St. Mary the Virgin at Nashotah. The latter two 
were entered in the National Register on 1 January 1976 and 2 February 1972, 
respectively.

The St. Paul's Church complex is a significant statement of the evolution of the 
Gothic style in the United States over a 72 year period. The simplicity and 
fragility of the Early Gothic church is offset by the High Victorian Gothic 
tower (1890) with its polychromatic effect and heavy features. The rectory and 
chapel, built in 1885 and 1886, illustrate the transition to later Gothic elements, 
while the 1931 guildhall illustrates a limited use of Gothic stylisms applied 
to an otherwise anonymous building.

St. Paul's Church is notable for its interior features and structural elements. 
The 19th century stained glass windows, vaulted ceiling in the nave, and the 
arcaded aisles lend a subtle charm and dignity to the church. A tracker-action 
pipe organ, built in about 1880, is complamented by the excellent accoustical 
qualities of the structure. This organ, with new pipes, replaced the 'original 
that was damaged by fire in 1968. The parish also preserves an excellent collection 
of documents, records, and letters concerning the history and construction of 
the buildings.

1. Vestry notes
2. Ibid.
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